IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 29 1996

CHIEF DOWN Stork

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 87,364

JOSEPH ROBERT SPAZIANO,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Margene A. Roper Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0302015 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The long and tortuous procedural history of this case began nineteen years ago. Spaziano v. Singletary, 36 F.3d 1028, 1030 (11th Cir. 1994).

Beverly Fink was Laura Lynn Harberts roommate (ROA 396). Fink had seen Spaziano before (ROA 397). He came to her door one afternoon on a weekend in July and said he wanted to talk to Laurie. He said he met her in Eola Park. Fink said she wasn't home. He asked if she knew when she would be back and Fink replied that she did not. Spaziano mentioned that he was a cook and was traveling (ROA 401-402). Jack Mallen, Fink's boyfriend, also identified the traveling cook as Spaziano at trial (ROA 471). He described him as having spaces between his teeth and a crooked mouth, long hair tied back and no beard (ROA 494-495;468;470). Saturday evening, about the 4th of August 1973, Fink and Mallen left the house. When they returned, Laurie was asleep on the couch. Someone knocked on the door around 3:00 a.m. (ROA 460). Laurie had Jack go to the door and tell the person she didn't want to talk to him as it was too late (ROA 400). Laurie said not to open the door, just to tell him to go away (ROA 401). She said she was frightened, acted afraid and did not want to go to the door (ROA 448; 461). Mallen kept the chain on the door (ROA 462).

person muttered obscenities and banged down the steps (ROA 466). The person was short, about the same height as the cook (ROA 464;477). He had a crooked mouth (ROA 493). Spaziano cocks his mouth to one side when he talks. The man also wore a denim jacket and had slightly bushy hair (ROA 464). Mallen could not determine if he had a beard (ROA 467). It could not have been the man Laurie had met as part of a couple in an auto accident that she was afraid of and whom she described as weird (ROA 501). It was not Joe Suarez from the hospital who was tall, lanky, and had light skin (ROA 502;505). Fink and Mallen last saw Laurie alive the next day, Sunday, August 5, 1973, around noon. She was talking on the phone. She said "Hold on a minute, Joe" and said goodbye to them (ROA 399; 458).

Henrietta Young testified in a videotaped deposition that was not admitted into evidence that she was the cashier at the Colony Theater in Winter Park on August 5, 1973 (ROA 509). That evening she noticed a woman with two men. The woman grabbed the manager and kissed him (ROA 510). She had worked for him at the theater at the plaza (ROA 526). They then walked toward the park (ROA 527). The woman was nineteen to twenty-one years old, dressed "hippie" and had blondish hair like Laura Harberts (ROA 513). She described one of the men as short, with sideburns and a goatee, about two to

three inches and kind of bushy, although not as thick as the picture she saw, with long black hair (ROA 515-516). Mike Ellis later testified that Spaziano had hair as long as his in August 1973 (ROA 598). Defense counsel objected because the line up did not approximate the description of the person Young gave (ROA 518). Yet she was able to pick Spaziano's picture, anyway (ROA 520). Counsel then objected on grounds of suggestiveness because the other photos did not resemble the person she described (ROA 543).

On August 22, 1973, the skeletal remains of two bodies were discovered at the Altamonte city dump in the southwest section of Seminole County (T 159). Charles W. Wehner, who was employed by the Seminole County Sheriff's Department, processing crime scenes and taking photos, testified at the evidentiary hearing below that he went to a dump area on a dirt road off Forest City Road (T 166-168;172). Several officers were already at the scene (T 171). He could smell the decomposed bodies at the site (T 173. He saw basket lids and cardboard laying on top of what appeared to be human remains (T 173). He testified at the evidentiary hearing below that the head appeared to be toward the south and the feet to the north (T 183). He did not recall if the body was laying face up or face down (T 187). Decomposition would be very rapid in August in central Florida (T 208). The bodies were in an advanced

state of decomposition and there was a great deal of maggot activity but there was still some flesh left on the bone structure (T 208). Animals had disturbed the remains and taken parts away so he initially thought there was only one body (T 174;208). the area roped off and had a systematic search and earth sifting for more remains done (T 175). When the area was searched, he found more bones (176). The remains were transported to the morgue at Seminole Memorial Hospital. He identified a series of thirtythree photographs, Spaziano's Composite Exhibit 81, as photographs taken by him of what he saw at the dump on August 22, 1973 (T 180). The identification on #31 indicates it is a view of the remains of two human lower jaws some thirty-five and thirty feet from the body (T 195). #32 reflects vertebrae segments located to the left of the body (T 195). He did not remember where the lower jawbone or the partial was found. The multiple lower jaws were the first indication that they had two bodies (T 194). The sketch and medical examiner's records were admitted into evidence as Spaziano Exhibits 82 and 102 (T 200). Mr. Wehner further testified that he would also have no way of knowing how the bodies were positioned one or two weeks prior to his inspection. There was only a general appearance that one body was laid on top of the remains of another. He would have no way of knowing if the defendant or anyone else had

gone back to the crime scene and repositioned or tried to secrete the bodies (T 209). Dr. Gray assembled the remains and put them together (T 177). The bodies were then transported to Region Four laboratory for further evaluation (T 178).

Sergeant Herbert M. Hartley Jr. took aerial photos under Wehner's supervision of the area slightly to the southwest of Lake Lotus off Highway 431 or Forest City Road in Seminole County. It was a little southwest of the intersection of State Road 431 and 436 (T 159;161). At the evidentiary hearing below Mr. Hartley identified Spaziano Exhibits 82a and 82b, original exhibits that came out of the court file that were placed in evidence as state exhibits in the trial in January 1976, as enlargements of the original photographs that he took. One was a close up of the area where the bodies were found (T 162). On cross examination Mr. Hartley acknowledged that there was a citrus grove and a lake near the area (T 163). Wehner could not recognize the photos (T 170).

On August 24, 1973, Dr. Carson S. Kendall determined through dental charts that the complete body was that of Laura Lynn Harberts. Spaziano Ex. 80(1).

Joseph Spaziano was charged with the murder of Harberts, and the principal witness for the state was Anthony DiLisio, a sixteen-year-old acquaintance of Spaziano. Spaziano v. State, 393 So.2d

1119, 1120 (Fla. 1981).

DiLisio testified at trial that he and Spaziano were friends (ROA 617). Around his sixteenth birthday (August 16) in 1973 he saw something unusual at a dump in Forest City (ROA 618). trip began at Spaziano's apartment in Casselberry. DiLisio and another person went with Spaziano in his two-tone pickup truck (ROA 619-610). Spaziano had suggested that they all take a ride. just drove around at first in Seminole County, and then went out to the dump (ROA 621). Before they arrived at the dump they crossed Interstate 4 and went down by the Ben White Raceway (ROA 622). They took a left after approximately a mile and a half and took a right just before the post office. They left paved roads and drove onto a dirt road then took a right onto another dirt road, like a big U-turn. Spaziano said "I am going to show you some of my girls." (ROA 623-624). A couple of days before DiLisio, Spaziano and some other people were at Spaziano's apartment in Casselberry smoking marijuana when Spaziano told DiLisio that he was going to "show him some of his girls that he had raped, stabbed, and cut their tits and cunts out." He said that he showed their vaginas to them and tortured them. DiLisio indicated that he had heard Spaziano talk like that several times before but he did not believe him (ROA 626-628). After they traveled down the U road they came

to a stop and the person sitting to the right of DiLisio walked around the truck for a minute. Spaziano was sitting to his left. DiLisio walked around the back of the truck, up to the front door of the truck on the driver's side and saw Spaziano sitting in the truck (ROA 629). He stayed there a couple of minutes then angled toward where the other person was standing. He walked about ten feet from the truck (ROA 630). The other person was standing over two bodies lying beside some trees. They were completely unclothed and the smell was very bad (ROA 631). The body closest to him was more decomposed than the other one. The least decomposed body had light brown hair and was covered with blood. There was quite a bit of blood on the upper part of the body and the face (ROA 632). He could tell that it was a female body by the breasts. It hadn't begun to decompose yet. It was all cut up (ROA 633). It was full of blood. He could see cuts in the breast, stomach and chest. DiLisio started walking back to the truck and Spaziano walked down to the bodies. DiLisio remembered asking him if they could leave (ROA 634). Spaziano told DiLisio "Go back to the truck and take some acid, take some drugs." Dilisio took some purple microdot acid and sat in the truck (ROA 635). He looked through the back window and saw Spaziano and the other person talking over the bodies. They got back in the truck (ROA 636). They drove around.

Spaziano said "Now you believe me when I tell you about my girls." DiLisio testified that he saw trash in the area including cardboard, a lot of newspaper, orange crates, tarpaper and round lids to baskets. (ROA 637). DiLisio further testified that he was not able to recall the incident when first asked about it because he just wanted to forget it and put it in the back of his mind as he had enough problems and was "into drugs really heavy." At that time DiLisio was friendly with Spaziano and liked him a lot. looked up to him like an idol (ROA 639). DiLisio was able to identify the tarpaper that he had seen at the dump where he saw the dead bodies as well as an orange crate (ROA 645). identified cardboard and basket tops that looked like what he saw when he was at the dump (ROA 646). On cross-examination DiLisio indicated that he was interviewed by Lieutenant Abbqy when he was in Volusia Halfway House (ROA 647). DiLisio said that the first time he talked to Lieutenant Abbgy he did not even talk to him about this case (ROA 651). He further testified that he did not do acid until they had left (ROA 653). Prior to going there he had been ingesting acid regularly, smoking dope and snorting cocaine (ROA 655-656). He saw pink and purple cloth beside one of the bodies (ROA 666). At Ben White Race or Speedway they turned to the left and traveled approximately a quarter of a mile (ROA 667).

They then made a left turn (ROA 669). They traveled that route for a half mile to a mile and then just before the post office took a right (ROA 670). They went a mile, then around some curves in the road, and took a left onto a dirt road. There were orange groves on the left (ROA 673). DiLisio indicated that he disliked Spaziano (ROA 681). DiLisio started doing drugs in 1973 and did them regularly until the beginning of 1974. He also indicated that he had twice been convicted of a crime (ROA 682-683). The convictions were imposed when he was a juvenile. They were for possession of marijuana and a bomb threat (ROA 688-689). Spaziano was a source for his drugs (ROA 685). DiLisio indicated that he did not report seeing the dead bodies because he wanted to be an Outlaw (ROA 689).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty in 1976. At the conclusion of the penalty phase of trial, the jury recommended that Spaziano receive a sentence of life imprisonment. Spaziano v. State, 393 So.2d 1119, 1121 (Fla 1981). The trial court had sustained defense counsel's objection to the introduction of Spaziano's prior convictions for forcible carnal knowledge and aggravated assault so the jury, in recommending life, was essentially unaware of Spaziano's violent history toward women. At the penalty phase Spaziano took the stand and admitted to only a grand and petit larceny conviction and defense counsel argued in

mitigation his lack of involvement in violent crimes (ROA Resent. Pp. 50-51). The trial judge imposed the death penalty. The case was remanded back to comply with the dictates of *Gardner v. Florida*, 430 U.S. 349 (1977), which was decided after trial. Spaziano v. State, 393 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1981).

Following remand, the trial judge ordered a new presentence investigation report and conducted a hearing to provide Spaziano the opportunity to respond to the report. Following this sentencing hearing the trial judge reimposed the death sentence, once again finding two aggravating and no mitigating circumstances. The two aggravating circumstances were (1) prior conviction of a violent felony and (2) the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel. On direct appeal the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the imposition of the death sentence. Spaziano v. State, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1983). The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari and affirmed. Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 446 (1984).

Clemency was denied and on November 4, 1985, the governor signed a death warrant. Spaziano filed his first motion for post conviction relief on or about November 20, 1985. He complained that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in that counsel allegedly failed to discover that DiLisio's testimony was the product of grossly suggestive police hypnosis and to reveal the

incredibility of that testimony to the jury. All relief was denied on November 22, 1985. On November 25, 1985, the Supreme Court of Florida entered a stay of execution to consider an appeal. The Court ultimately affirmed the trial court's order denying the motion for post conviction relief and vacated the stay on May 22, 1986. In regard to the hypnosis claim this Court held that:

Spaziano next asserts that his counsel was ineffective because counsel failed to discover and reveal the suggestiveness of hypnosis performed on a key state witness. Nine years after Spaziano's trial took place, this Court held that, because hypnotically refreshed evidence has not yet been proved reliable, it is per se inadmissible in criminal trials. See Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985). In effect, Spaziano is now claiming that his counsel was ineffective for failing to anticipate the Bundy decision. Spaziano contends that the state's use of this hypnotically refreshed testimony violated his right to a fair trial under the United States Constitution. The trial judge denied relief on this issue, finding that counsel's actions were strategic and noting that counsel was aware the witness had been hypnotized and objected at the time of the trial to any mention of hypnosis. We reject Spaziano's contention and find no valid claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under the standards set forth in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), and Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Spaziano v. State, 489 So.2d 720, 721 (Fla. 1986). Spaziano then sought relief through several post conviction motions and habeas petitions. Spaziano v. State, 545 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1989); Spaziano v. Dugger, 557 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1990); Spaziano v. State, 570 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1990); and Spaziano v. Dugger, 584 So.2d 1 (Fla.

1991).

Spaziano next filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the federal district court raising twenty-three claims, all of which were denied. Spaziano v. Singletary, No. 91-850-Civ-Orl-18. The District Court was unable to find any suggestiveness in the hypnosis sessions. Spaziano appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit which affirmed the district court's judgment denying the habeas petition. Spaziano v. Singletary, 36 F.3d 1028 (11th Cir. 1994). The Eleventh Circuit found that the substantive hypnosis claim raised by Spaziano was barred by Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288 (1989).

A fourth death warrant was signed and Spaziano's execution was set for June 27, 1995. Spaziano's attorney, Michael Mello, convinced the Miami Herald to look into Spaziano's case (R 605). Because of Spaziano's claims of innocence and DiLisio's interviews Governor Chiles granted an indefinite stay of execution to look into matters further (R 604). Counsel for Spaziano indicated he would be willing to file a clemency petition on short notice (R 605).

In a June 16, 1995, letter to the governor Mello stated "I also want to register my strong objection to any attempt to polygraph Anthony DiLisio. My polygraph experts have informed me

that Mr. DiLisio is not an appropriate subject for a reliable polygraph examination, even if the testing is performed by objective, competent polygraphers." (R 606). In a June 20, 1995, letter Mello threatened the state with a wrongful death action (R 608-610).

Following the governor's signing of a fifth death warrant for Spaziano on August 4, 1995, Spaziano, through his same counsel, Mello, filed an out-of-time motion for rehearing of the first post conviction motion, the denial of which was affirmed by this Court in 1986, and an out-of-time motion for rehearing of the direct appeal on the sufficiency of the evidence. This Court concluded that under the unique circumstances of the case that the two motions and a supplemental affidavit of DiLisio should be treated as a successive Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850-3.851 motion based only on newly discovered evidence of the recantation of the testimony of Anthony DiLisio. The Court remanded the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing. Spaziano v. State, 660 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1995).

On September 12, 1995, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Florida issued an order assigning the Honorable Robert B. McGregor to preside over Spaziano's evidentiary hearing (R 5). Judge McGregor ultimately recused himself and the case was

reassigned (R 30;40).

An evidentiary hearing was held on January 8-15, 1996, before a successor judge, the Honorable O.H. Eaton, Jr., Circuit Court judge. Joseph Spaziano was represented by the Holland & Knight law firm.

The lower court allowed two defense experts on repressed memory to sit in the courtroom over the objection of the State that the sole issue was the credibility of DiLisio's recantation and the hypnosis issue had been raised years ago, rejected, and was moot (T 13-14). Jerry L. Schwarz testified that he represented Spaziano on direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida (T 32). He also conducted a Gardner v. Florida resentencing before Judge McGregor Judge McGregor resentenced Spaziano to death, which (T 33).triggered another automatic direct appeal (T 33). At no time during the appellate process did Mr. Schwarz attempt to contact Anthony DiLisio, as one is limited to the record on direct appeal (T 34-35). Other than contacting the prison and confirming that Spaziano's prison record had been good no other investigation was undertaken. DiLisio was not contacted during the Gardner remand hearing (T 35).

Gerald Justine, an investigator for the public defender's office in West Palm Beach, testified that he interviewed DiLisio

on April 17, 1985, in Vista, California (T 39;41). He explained that he was working on the Spaziano case. DiLisio turned rather pale, became quite hostile, and emphatically asked him to leave. DiLisio said "I don't want any fucking thing to do with it." (T 42). In 1995 Mr. Justine located an address for DiLisio in Pensacola and forwarded it to CCR (T 46).

In July 1985 Mr. Justine spoke with Lieutenant George Abbgy's widow. He went to her residence and secured three tapes of the May 13th interview of DiLisio and the two hypnosis sessions of May 15 and 16, 1975. The May 13, 1975, tape was admitted as Spaziano Exhibit 72a, the transcript thereof as Spaziano Exhibit 30; the May 15, 1975, hypnosis tape was received as 72b, the transcript thereof as Spaziano Exhibit 31; and the May 16, 1975, hypnosis tape was admitted as 72c, the transcript thereof as Spaziano Exhibit 32(T 47-51;286;108;294;303;790). The transcripts of the tapes were received from public agencies (T 108).

Edward Stafman testified that he began representing Spaziano in 1985 or 1986 (T 59). He was on the case until 1993 (T 60). He indicated that he had attempted to locate DiLisio at least twice. He recalled phoning DiLisio, probably in the Fall of 1989, in southern California (T 68). Stafman identified himself and attempted to interview him (T 64). DiLisio would not talk to him

about the substance of the facts (T 65). Stafman said he made it clear and had stressed to the person on the phone, who he believed to be DiLisio, that a man's life was at stake and that Spaziano was on death row (T 69). DiLisio does not recall even being approached by Mr. Stafman (T 429).

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