### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 87,364

On Appeal From the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit
In and For Seminole County, Florida

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

JOSEPH ROBERT SPAZIANO,

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Answer Brief will refer to the appellant, the State of Florida, as the State. The appellee, Joseph Robert Spaziano, will be referred to as Mr. Spaziano.

The record on appeal consists of 25 volumes. Volumes 1 through 19 include pleadings. Citations to these volumes will be made by the volume number, the letter "R.", and the appropriate page number. For example, the citation "V.18, R. 3812" refers to volume 18, page 3812 of the record.

Volumes 20 through 25 contain the transcript of the evidentiary hearing conducted before Circuit Judge O.H. Eaton, Jr. in Seminole County on January 8-15, 1996. Citations to this transcript will be made by the volume number, the letters "Tr.", and the appropriate page number. For example, the citation "V.20, Tr. 1" refers to volume 20, page 1 of the evidentiary hearing transcript.

This Answer Brief includes references to the transcript of Mr. Spaziano's first-degree murder trial in January 1976, State v. Spaziano, Case No. 75-430-CFA, Seminole County Circuit Court, Eighteenth Judicial Circuit. Citations to this transcript will be made by the phrase "Trial Tr." and the appropriate page number. For example, the citation "Trial Tr. 1" refers to page 1 of the 1976 trial transcript.

This Answer Brief includes citations to exhibits introduced at the evidentiary hearing. Citations to these exhibits

introduced by Mr. Spaziano will be made by the phrase "Def. Exh.", followed by the exhibit number.

This Answer Brief includes a two-part Appendix. Appendix A is Circuit Judge O.H. Eaton's Order Vacating Judgment and Sentence and Setting Trial Date (the "Order") dated January 22, 1996. Citations to Appendix A will be made by the phrase "App. A," followed by the page number. The citation will also include a reference to the volume and page in the record on appeal. For example, the citation "App. A-18; V.18, R. 3812" refers to page 18 of Appendix A and volume 18, page 3812 of the record.

Appendix B is Judge Eaton's order concerning litigation costs dated June 18, 1996. Mr. Spaziano respectfully requests that this Court allow him to supplement the record with this order. Citations to Appendix B will be made by the phrase "App. B," followed by the page number. For example, the citation "App. B-1" refers to page 1 of Appendix B.

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Spaziano requests that this Court grant an oral argument for this case. This case involves the trial court's vacation of a first-degree murder conviction and a death sentence. Mr. Spaziano respectfully suggests that oral argument would be helpful to this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Seminole County circuit court's Order vacating Joseph Robert Spaziano's first-degree murder conviction and death sentence and ordering a new trial. (A copy of this Order is attached as Appendix A.)

Mr. Spaziano was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death in 1976 for the death of Laura Harberts. Ms. Harberts' body was one of two found at a Seminole County dump in August 1973. The other body was never identified.

Mr. Spaziano's conviction was upheld on direct appeal, but the case was remanded for resentencing. Spaziano v. State, 393 So. 2d 1119 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1037, 102 S. Ct. 581, 70 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1981). In Spaziano, this Court recognized that the principal witness against Mr. Spaziano was Anthony DiLisio, 1 a sixteen-year-old acquaintance of Mr. Spaziano who testified that he saw corpses when he accompanied Mr. Spaziano to a dump site in August 1973. Id. at 1120.

After the remand for resentencing, this Court upheld the reimposition of the death sentence on Mr. Spaziano. Spaziano v. State, 433 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1983), aff'd, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154, 82 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1984). Since then, Mr. Spaziano has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court mistakenly referred to this witness as Ralph DiLisio, which is the name of Anthony DiLisio's father. Spaziano, 393 So. 2d at 1120. Anthony--not Ralph--DiLisio was sixteen years old at the time of Mr. Spaziano's trial.

pursued postconviction and habeas corpus claims in state and federal courts.<sup>2</sup>

In September 1995, this Court ordered the Seminole County circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing "based only on the newly discovered evidence of the recantation of the testimony of a significant witness [Mr. DiLisio]." Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363, 1365-66 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 722, 133 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1996).

Judge Eaton conducted an evidentiary hearing from January 8-15, 1996. (V.20-25, Tr. 1-1090.) He subsequently entered an Order finding that Mr. DiLisio's testimony was credible. (App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.) He found that the recantation was newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered earlier through the use of due diligence by Mr. Spaziano's attorneys. (App. A-7; V.18, R. 3811.) Judge Eaton ordered Mr. Spaziano's judgment and sentence vacated based on this newly discovered evidence and ordered a new trial for the term beginning on March 25, 1996. (App. A-8; V.18, R. 3812.)

The State filed a notice of appeal on January 30, 1996. (V.19, R. 3816.) The trial court entered an order on February

<sup>2</sup> See Spaziano v. Singletary, 36 F.3d 1028 (11th Cir. 1994),
cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 911, 130 L. Ed. 2d 793 (1995); Spaziano
v. Singletary, No. 91-850-CIV-ORL-18 (M.D. Fla. Nov. 30, 1992);
Spaziano v. Dugger, 584 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1991); Spaziano v. State,
570 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1990); Spaziano v. Dugger, 557 So. 2d 1372
(Fla. 1990). Spaziano v. State, 545 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1989);
Spaziano v. State, 489 So. 2d 720 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S.
995, 107 S. Ct. 598, 93 L. Ed. 2d 598 (1986).

20, 1996, that stayed the proceedings and extended the speedy trial period. (V.19, R. 3850.) This appeal followed.

Judge Eaton subsequently entered an order on litigation costs. By separate motion, Mr. Spaziano has asked this Court to supplement the record with this order. The order is attached to this Answer Brief as Appendix B.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as presented by the State in its Initial Brief do not present a fair and accurate description of the proceedings below. Thus, Mr. Spaziano restates the facts as follows:

#### I. INTRODUCTION

During Mr. Spaziano's first-degree murder trial in January 1976, the principal witness against him was Anthony DiLisio. At the time, Mr. DiLisio was a troubled, drug-addicted teenager. Buckling under pressure from an overbearing father, suggestive police interrogation, and seriously flawed hypnotic techniques, Mr. DiLisio gave detailed testimony about a purported trip that he took with Mr. Spaziano and another man to a Seminole County dump in August 1973. (Trial Tr. 618, 628, 631-34, 645, 665-66, 688.) He testified extensively about two dead bodies that he claimed to have seen at the site.

Mr. DiLisio's testimony was central and essential in convicting Mr. Spaziano. No other witness placed Mr. Spaziano with the body of Ms. Harberts, and no physical evidence linked Mr. Spaziano either to the victim or to the dump site. As the State said during Mr. Spaziano's trial in 1976, "If we can't get in the testimony of Tony DiLisio, we'd have absolutely no case whatsoever." (Trial Tr. 614.) Both the defense and the State steered the jury toward Mr. DiLisio's testimony as the key to deciding Mr. Spaziano's guilt or innocence. (Trial Tr. 761, 776.)

Reviewing courts have also recognized that Mr. DiLisio's testimony was the key to convicting Mr. Spaziano. <u>See Spaziano</u>, 660 So. 2d at 1367 (Kogan, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) (noting that on direct appeal, the entire analysis of sufficiency of evidence was based on Mr. DiLisio's credibility); <u>Spaziano</u>, 393 So. 2d at 1119 (describing Mr. DiLisio as "the principal witness for the state").

In addition, Judge Eaton found that Mr. DiLisio provided crucial testimony against Mr. Spaziano:

It was [Mr. DiLisio] who provided the only evidence of the cause of death of the decedent and it was he who supplied the jury with the evidence connecting this tragic event to the defendant. Without his testimony, there simply is no corroborating evidence in the trial record that is sufficient to sustain the verdict - not even any evidence from the medical examiner who performed the autopsy.

(App. A-3; V.18, R. 3807.)

## II. DUE DILIGENCE

For nearly twenty years after Mr. Spaziano's conviction, Mr. DiLisio refused to discuss his trial testimony. (V.20, Tr. 42-43, 65-66, 83, 92, 112-13.) In 1995, however, Mr. DiLisio recanted his 1976 trial testimony, initially to a Miami Herald newspaper reporter (V.21, Tr. 372-73), and later in a sworn affidavit filed with this Court. In his affidavit, Mr. DiLisio unequivocally denied accompanying Mr. Spaziano to a dump site:

. . . I, Anthony Frank DiLisio . . . do make, publish and declare freely that I never under any circumstances went to the dump sight [sic] with Joseph Spaziano. I went there in the company of law enforcement investigators and only in the company of law enforcement investigators.

See Spaziano, 660 So. 2d at 1364 (reciting Mr. DiLisio's affidavit in full).

over the years, Mr. Spaziano's attorneys and investigators made diligent efforts to talk with Mr. DiLisio about his trial testimony. First, Jerry Justine, an investigator with the public defender's office in West Palm Beach, testified at the evidentiary hearing that he located Mr. DiLisio in Vista, California, in 1985 and traveled from Florida to talk with him. (V.20, Tr. 40-41.) Mr. Justine said Mr. DiLisio became "quite hostile" when approached at his home on April 17, 1985, and would not discuss the trial. (V.20, Tr. 42.) In fact, Mr. DiLisio told Mr. Justine: "I don't want any fucking thing to do with it." (V.20, Tr. 42.)

Second, Edward Stafman, a Tallahassee lawyer who represented Mr. Spaziano in postconviction proceedings from 1986 through 1993, testified that he and an investigator made at least two attempts to contact Mr. DiLisio in the fall of 1989. (V.20, Tr. 61-62.) Mr. Stafman reached Mr. DiLisio by telephone that fall, but, he testified, Mr. DiLisio "would not talk to me about the substance of the facts." (V.20, Tr. 65.)

Third, Mike Hummill, an investigator for the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative ("CCR") in Tallahassee, testified that he spoke with Mr. DiLisio twice after CCR began representing Mr. Spaziano in early 1995. (V.20, Tr. 79, 88.)
Mr. Hummill testified that he traveled to Mr. DiLisio's home in

Pensacola on February 22, 1995, but Mr. DiLisio would not discuss his trial testimony. (V.20, Tr. 83.)

Fourth, Mr. Hummill returned to Pensacola with another CCR investigator, Rick Hays, on May 26, 1995, two days after Governor Lawton Chiles signed Mr. Spaziano's death warrant. (V.20, Tr. 88, 110-11.) See also Def. Exh. 54 (certified copy of death warrant). Mr. Hummill and Mr. Hays both testified that Mr. DiLisio still refused to discuss his trial testimony. (V.20, Tr. 106, 112-13.)

The evidence of Mr. DiLisio's recantation was not available to these attorneys and investigators, despite their diligence in trying to find it. Thomas H. Dunn, Mr. Spaziano's expert witness on the standards of practice in postconviction proceedings in capital cases, testified that Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.3 requires a lawyer to act with "reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client," within the confines of the law and ethics. (V.20, Tr. 145-46.) Mr. Dunn testified that Mr. DiLisio's refusal to discuss his trial testimony has no impact on due diligence. (V.20, Tr. 151-52.)

Mr. Dunn testified that proper representation in a capital postconviction case requires reinvestigation at several points. (V.20, Tr. 140.) Attorneys or investigators contacted Mr. DiLisio at these critical stages:

- Before the first motion was filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850<sup>3</sup> (V.20, Tr. 140-41);
- Before Mr. Spaziano's case entered federal court<sup>4</sup> (V.20, Tr. 142-43); and
- After the completion of federal habeas corpus proceedings.<sup>5</sup>
   (V.20, Tr. 143-44.)

Mr. Dunn concluded that the efforts of investigators and attorneys to contact Mr. DiLisio constituted due diligence because they "they used every approach possible to try to get Mr. DiLisio to talk to them about the substance of his testimony in Mr. Spaziano's trial." (V.20, Tr. 152.) Judge Eaton found as a matter of law that "[t]he evidence of recantation in this case is newly discovered evidence which could not have been discovered earlier through the exercise of due diligence." (App. A-7; V.18, R. 3811.)

#### III. MR. DiLISIO'S UPBRINGING

In addition to establishing that Mr. DiLisio's recantation is newly discovered evidence, Mr. Spaziano presented testimony of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Spaziano's direct appeals concluded in 1984, when the United States Supreme Court affirmed the death sentence imposed on resentencing. <u>See Spaziano v. State</u>, 433 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1983), <u>aff'd</u>, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154, 82 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Spaziano filed his final motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 on November 26, 1989. The trial court denied relief, and this Court affirmed in <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1990). His case then entered federal court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Federal habeas corpus proceedings concluded in Mr. Spaziano's case in January 1995, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari from Mr. Spaziano's appeal of the denial of federal habeas corpus relief. <u>See Spaziano v. Singletary</u>, 36 F.3d 1028 (11th Cir. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 911, 130 L. Ed. 2d 793 (1995).

Mr. DiLisio and other witnesses that shows the development of Mr. DiLisio's trial testimony in 1976 and, later, his recantation in 1995 and 1996. The evidence shows that Mr. DiLisio's recantation is truthful, unwavering, and uncoerced. It also shows that Mr. DiLisio's trial testimony in 1976 was so seriously flawed by faulty police techniques and an overbearing father that it cannot be accepted as credible. The State's witnesses never seriously challenged this testimony. Judge Eaton found in his Order that Mr. DiLisio's testimony at the evidentiary hearing "is credible and is corroborated by other evidence to a significant extent." (App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.)

To fully understand the truthfulness of Mr. DiLisio's recantation, it was necessary to explore the factors that produced his 1976 testimony. Judge Eaton found that Mr. DiLisio and his five siblings "lived in a dysfunctional family ruled by his father, Ralph Delisio [sic], who physically abused them.

Delisio [sic] tried to please his father but he never succeeded."

(App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808) (footnote omitted).

Ralph DiLisio owned a boat dealership called Maitland Marine on Highway 17-92 near Orlando. (V.21, Tr. 219.) As a teenager, Mr. DiLisio frequented the business. (V.21, Tr. 220, 224; App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.) In May 1972, Mr. DiLisio's parents separated, and Mr. DiLisio and his father eventually moved into a home behind Maitland Marine. (V.21, Tr. 221-22, 228.)

In 1972, at the age of fifteen, Mr. DiLisio was seduced by Mary ("Keppie") Kepley Epton, an employee at Maitland Marine. 6

(V.21, Tr. 225-27, 234.) Judge Eaton found that Mr. DiLisio and Ms. Epton had "frequent sexual intercourse for about two and one half years." (App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.) While this sexual relationship continued, Ms. Epton also was engaged in a relationship with Mr. DiLisio's father that culminated in their marriage in December 1973. (V.21, Tr. 227.) Mr. DiLisio had sex with Ms. Epton for the last time on the wedding day of his father and Ms. Epton. (V.21, Tr. 226-27, 254-55; App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.)

During this time, Mr. Spaziano worked at Maitland Marine, and Mr. DiLisio knew who he was. (V.21, Tr. 232-33; App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.) Judge Eaton found that there was "a conflict as to just how close their relationship was but none of the witnesses who testified were able to establish a fast friendship." (App. A-4; V.18, R. 3808.)

Mr. DiLisio testified that in August 1973 he went on a tenday vacation with his father and Ms. Epton to Jamaica for his sixteenth birthday. (V.21, Tr. 230-31.)

In the fall of 1973, while his sexual relationship with Ms. Epton was ongoing, Ms. Epton asked Mr. DiLisio to leave Orlando and travel with her and Mr. Spaziano to California. (V.21, Tr. 253.) Mr. DiLisio declined because he thought this would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Keppie" Epton did not testify at the hearing before the trial court.

hurt his father, who was in love with Ms. Epton. (V.21, Tr. 253-54.)

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